
 

 
 

Agenda 

 

Page 1 

Finance and Corporate Services Scrutiny Board (1) 
 

Time and Date 
10.00 am on Wednesday, 14th January, 2026 
 
Place 
Diamond Room 2 - Council House 
 

 

 
 
Public Business 
 
1. Apologies and Substitutions   

 
2. Declarations of Interest   

 
3. Minutes   

 
 (a) To agree the minutes of the meeting held on 3 December 2025  (Pages 

3 - 6) 
 

 (b) Matters Arising   
 

4. Pre Budget Consultation Report 2026/27  (Pages 7 - 20) 
 

 Briefing note 
 

5. Work Programme and Outstanding Issues  (Pages 21 - 26) 
 

 Report of the Scrutiny Co-ordinator 
 

6. Any other items of Public Business   
 

 Any other items of public business which the Chair decides to take as matters 
of urgency because of the special circumstances involved 
 

Private Business 
 Nil 
 

Julie Newman, Director of Law and Governance, Council House, Coventry 
Tuesday, 6 January 2026 
 
Note: The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is 
Carolyn Sinclair carolyn.sinclair@coventry.gov.uk 
 
Membership: Councillors J Blundell, R Brown (By Invitation), P Hetherton (By 
Invitation), J Innes, A Jobbar (Chair), R Lakha, P Male, K Maton, J McNicholas, 
CE Thomas and A Tucker 

Public Document Pack



Page 2 

 
 
Public Access  
Any member of the public who would like to attend the meeting in person is 
encouraged to contact the officer below in advance of the meeting regarding 
arrangements for public attendance. A guide to attending public meeting can be found 
here: https://www.coventry.gov.uk/publicAttendanceMeetings 
 
 

Carolyn Sinclair  
carolyn.sinclair@coventry.gov.uk 
 
 

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/publicAttendanceMeetings


 
– 1 – 

 

Coventry City Council 
Minutes of the Meeting of Finance and Corporate Services Scrutiny Board (1) held 

at 10.00 am on Wednesday, 3 December 2025 
 

Present:  

Members: Councillor A Jobbar (Chair) 

 Councillor J Blundell 
Councillor R Lakha 
Councillor G Lloyd (substitute for Councillor J Innes 
Councillor J McNicholas 
Councillor CE Thomas 
Councillor A Tucker 
 

Other Members: Councillor R Brown, Cabinet Member for Strategic Finance 
and Resources 

Employees:  

Human Resources: 
 
Finance and Resources: 
 
Law and Governance: 

S Chilton 
 
P Helm 
 
E Jones, C Sinclair  

 
Apologies: 

 
Councillor J Innes and P Male  
  

 
Public Business 
 
21. Declarations of Interest  

 
There were no declarations of interest.  
 

22. Minutes  
 
The Minutes of the meeting held on 5 November 2025 and were signed as a true 
record.  There were no matters arising.  
 

23. Staff Survey Results 2025  
 
The Board considered a briefing note and a presentation which provided an 
update on the findings of the recent staff survey for 2025. 
 
The survey had been shared across the Council to understand how colleagues 
were experiencing their work, their teams, and the organisation as a whole. It was 
made available in both a digital and paper format to ensure all colleagues could 
take part, including those without regular digital access. There were some 49 
questions to answer covering all aspects of working life. 
 
The survey explored day-to-day experience, including communication, recognition, 
leadership, wellbeing, inclusion, fairness, and development. Colleagues were also 
encouraged to share context through free-text comments and word tiles. Strengths 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3a



 

 
– 2 – 

 

and areas for improvement have been identified by looking at the highest and 
lowest scoring questions, alongside written feedback and benchmark 
comparisons. 
 
The survey received 2,359 responses, giving a response rate of 49%, up from 
40% (2,178 responses) in 2023.  
 
In summary, the results showed: 

 Strong relationships between colleagues and their line managers. 

 Most colleagues also understand how their work contributes to wider goals. 
However, many organisational-level scores had declined since 2023. 

 Line Managers are seen as supportive, approachable, and aligned with the 
organisation’s values. 

 Most colleagues understand how their work contributes to the Council’s 
wider goals and feel their role makes a difference. 

 colleagues share a strong commitment to serving Coventry and feel   
connected to their immediate teams. 

 Colleagues were less confident that feedback leads to visible action, that 
change is communicated clearly, or that processes are applied consistently.  

 Perceptions of fairness - particularly around pay, recognition, and 
performance management also vary across the organisation. 

 Some colleagues were unsure whether feedback lead to action and 
whether processes were applied consistently.  

 Change could also feel unclear or difficult to follow, and staff would value 
earlier involvement and clearer communication. 

 Fairness and perceptions of fairness, particularly in pay and performance 
management, vary across the organisation and remained a point of 
concern. 

 Frontline colleagues (paper-based surveys) are less likely to feel informed 
about organisational updates 
 

Communication was the clearest dividing line. Connected colleagues (digital 
surveys) benefited from regular updates through email and intranet channels, 
while frontline teams often rely on cascades or informal briefings, which can make 
organisational decisions feel unclear or distant.  
 
The briefing note indicated that, taken together, the results suggested a workforce 
that remained committed and purposeful, but increasingly uncertain about whether 
their feedback makes a difference. There was clearly more work to be done in 
rebuilding trust through clearer communication, earlier involvement in decisions, 
and consistent follow-through. These were the key areas for the People Strategy 
going forward. Questions responses were appended to the briefing note. 
 
The Board questioned Officers and received responses on a number of matters 
including: 

 Strategies for effectively communicating with those employees without 
regular digital access. 

 Ways to incentivise staff to complete surveys. 

 Looking at how best to target specific audience group to ensure the widest 
participation.  

Page 4



 

 
– 3 – 

 

  
RESOLVED that the Board note the overall findings of survey and the 
suggested areas for improvement as a result of the survey findings. 
 

24. CIPFA Financial Management Code  
 

The Board considered a briefing note on the CIPFA Financial Management Code 
(FM Code) which provided guidance for good and sustainable financial 
management in local authorities. By giving due regard to the principles and 
standards within the code, Local Authorities were able to demonstrate the 
foundations for strong financial sustainability. Scrutiny Board 1 approved in 2024 
that its work programme should include a standing item each year to demonstrate 
Coventry’s compliance with the principles of the FM Code. The CIPFA Financial 
Management Code - Financial Standards Self-Assessment (November 2025) were 
appended to the briefing note. 

 

The results of both of these assessments helped to provide a basis of evidence 
for inclusion of the Councils Annual Governance Statement (AGS) which was a 
requirement for inclusion in the approved Statement of Accounts. 

 

The headings of the CIPFA Financial Management Standards in the Code which 
local authorities should comply with were: 

 Responsibilities of the CFO and Leadership Team 

 Governance and Financial Management Style 

 Long to Medium Term Financial Management 

 The Annual Budget 

 Stakeholder Engagement and Business Plans 

 Monitoring Financial Performance 

 External Financial Reporting 
 

In summary, the assessment indicated a relatively strong position such that the 
Council had satisfied CIPFA’s requirement to demonstrate compliance with the 
Code. 
 
It was proposed that the Council’s compliance with the FM Code continued to be 
reviewed annually and reported to Scrutiny Board in November/December each 
year as part of the Council’s annual process to update its Annual Governance 
Statement process.  It was noted that the Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee would 
be picking up matters in respect of the One Coventry Plan regarding the CIPFA 
code and possible KPIs. 

 
The Board questioned Officers and received responses on a number of matters 
relating to the presentation including: 

 Cost of services - Childrens Services in particular - and ways to keep the 
costs down in, what was, a difficult market.  

 Comparisons between the City Council and other local authorities. 

 Measures to strengthen resilience. 
 
Following consideration of the report and matters raised at the meeting, Councillor 
Lakha, as Chair of the Audit and Procurement Committee, suggested that 

Page 5



 

 
– 4 – 

 

Councillor A Jobbar and Councillor G Lloyd, as Chairs of this Scrutiny Board and 
the Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee respectively be invited to the next Audit and 
Procurement Committee the City Council’s Auditors, Grant Thornton would be in 
attendance.  
 
RESOLVED that the Board:  
 

1) Noted the contents of the assessment of the Council’s level of 
compliance with the CIPFA Financial Management Code included in 
Appendix A of the briefing note. 

2) Noted that that the Chair, Councillor A Jobbar and the Chair of the 
Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee would be invited to attend the 
Audit and Procurement Committee meeting when the Council’s 
Auditors, Grant Thornton, were present.  

 
25. Work Programme and Outstanding Issues  

 
The Board noted the Work Programme including an additional meeting on 14 
January 2026 for the Board to consider the Budget Report.  
 
There were no outstanding issues.  
 

26. Any other items of Public Business  
 
There were no other items of public business. 
 
 
 
 

(Meeting closed at 11.20 am)  

  

Page 6



 Briefing note  
 

 

 

To: Finance and Corporate Services Scrutiny Board 
 
Date: 14 January 2026 
 
Subject: Pre Budget Consultation Report 2026/27 
 
 

 

   
 

1 Purpose of the Note  

1.1 This item outlines the purpose of the Pre-Budget Consultation Report for 2026/27 and 
invites members to share their views on potential investment themes to shape policy 
decisions. For the first time in about 15 years, the Council anticipates being able to 
meet its legal duty of setting a balanced budget for 2026/27 without requiring significant 
service reductions, thanks to expected improvements from the Government's Fair 
Funding reform.  

1.2 The Pre-Budget Report outlines potential themes for investment based on public 
engagement and council performance data. These include: 

 Keeping people safe – tackling crime, improving cleanliness and city centre 
improvements 

 Anti-social behaviour – including fly tipping 

 Local environments – particularly in deprived neighbourhoods 

 Protecting vulnerable people – tackling child poverty 

 Good jobs, investment and prosperity – addressing youth unemployment and 
education achievement 

 Helping people to manage – support with bills and energy costs 

 Roads and pavements – improving condition and safety 

1.3 The Board will focus on reviewing the proposed themes, consider their alignment with 
strategic priorities, and respond as necessary to support informed decisions ahead of 
the final budget approval in February 2026. 

2 Recommendations 

2.1 The Finance and Corporate Services Scrutiny Board are recommended to: 

a) Note the contents of the Pre Budget Consultation Report (Appendix 1) which was 
approved by Cabinet on 16 December 2025, as a basis for consultation. 

b) To agree as a Board, any feedback it wishes to provide as part of the formal pre 
budget consultation which ends on 28 January 2026. 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



   
 

 2 

3 Information and Background 

3.1 The Pre budget report is approved by Cabinet in December each year and commences 
a public consultation process regarding the options set out for consideration. 

3.2 Recent custom has seen the report setting out a series of cost reduction options on 
which stakeholder views are sought. 

3.3 The Government have recently consulted on a set of proposals that will see the level of 
funding change reflecting updated data and formulae. It is expected that Coventry will 
benefit from the updated system, however the impact of the changes were not 
announced until after the pre-budget report was approved. 

3.4 Provisional indications continue to be such that no cost reduction options are required in 
order to set a balanced 2025/26 budget. Views on the themes set out for potential 
investment are therefore sought to inform member policy choice in the lead up to the 
final budget approvals in February 2026 as seen in paragraph 2.5 of the attached pre 
budget (consultation) report (Appendix 1).  

4 Health Inequalities Impact  

4.1 No direct impact as a result of the report contents. 

 
 
Name of Author: Phil Helm 
Job Title: Head of Finance 
Organisation: Coventry City Council 
Contact details: phil.helm@coventry.gov.uk 

Page 8

mailto:phil.helm@coventry.gov.uk



   APPENDIX 1 
 
 
 

Public report 
Cabinet 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 

Cabinet 16 December 2025 
 
 
Name of Cabinet Member:  
Cabinet Member for Strategic Finance and Resources - Councillor R Brown 
 
Director Approving Submission of the report: 
Director of Finance and Resources (Section 151 Officer) 
 
Wards affected: 
City-wide 
 
Title: 
Pre-Budget Consultation 2026/27 
 
 
Is this a key decision? 
 
Yes - Cabinet is being recommended to note the situation regarding the Governments 

funding settlement for 2026/27 and future years following the Fair Funding review, 
and approve, as a basis for consultation, the potential Council Tax levels for 
2026/27 and the policy themes for potential investment in services 

 

 
Executive Summary: 
 
The Council’s financial plans are heavily dependent on the allocation of Government grant 
resources, Government decisions which dictate councils’ tax-based income streams and the 
significant pressures seen primarily in social care in recent years. Following significant sector 
lobbying, including ourselves and the wider West Midlands, the Government consulted during 
2025 on a set of ‘Fair Funding’ proposals intended to reform the distribution of resources on 
a more equitable basis.  
 
The implication of the proposals is expected to be positive for Coventry, however until such 
time as the provisional settlement is provided, we are not able to accurately estimate the level 
of additional resources which the Council will benefit from. The Government are urging 
Council’s to wait for the Provisional settlement, which is expected to be published in late 
December, after the date of this report. Once received, it will provide a stronger indication of 
the likely position for the year ahead and two subsequent years. 
 
There are no service cost reduction options contained in this report, contrary to the custom of 
recent years.  However, section 2.5 of the report discusses policy priority themes for potential 

Page 9



 

  

investment in services to further the achievement of the priorities as set out in the One 
Coventry Plan. This report seeks approval to formally consult on these themes, the views of 
stakeholders from which will be reflected in the proposals in the final Budget Report in 
February 2026. 
 
The report also seeks approval to consult on the potential level of Council Tax and Adult 
Social Care Precept increases for 2025/26. 
 
A Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) is intended to be presented alongside the final 
Budget Report in February 2026. In addition to an updated 3-year funding position, this will 
include the current financial context facing the Council in relation to a continued impact of a 
higher than planned inflationary environment, together with the ongoing difficult market 
conditions faced within both adults and children’s social care. 
 
The report also details a minor change to the Council’s Council Tax Support scheme with an 
associated Equality Impact Assessment included at Appendix 1 to the report 
 
Also included is an indication of the Council’s prospective Capital Programme for 2026/27 
based on current knowledge. This will be updated in the February 2026 Budget Report, 
reflecting the most up to date programme information available. The draft programme is 
based overwhelmingly on pre-existing decisions and patterns of expenditure. 
 
 
Recommendations: 
 
Cabinet is requested to: 
 
1) Note the position with regard to the Governments funding settlement. 

 
2) Approve the Capital Programme proposals in sections 2.6 to 2.8 of the report.  

 
3) Approve as a basis of consultation for a six-week period, the contents of this report as 

set out in section 1 and 2. 
 

4) Approve a six-week public consultation period to commence on 17th December 2025 
on proposed (minor) amendments to the council tax support scheme as detailed in the 
report and Appendix 1 in accordance with The Local Government Finance Act 1992 
(as substituted by the 2012 Act).  

 
List of Appendices included: 
 
Appendix 1 –  Equality Impact Assessment on proposed changes to the Council Tax 

Support Scheme 
 
Background papers: 
 
None 
 
Other useful documents 
 
None 
 

Page 10



 

  

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?  
 
Yes – Finance and Corporate Services Scrutiny Board (1) on 14 January 2026 will consider 

this as part of the formal consultation process 
 
Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel 
or other body?  
 
No 
 
Will this report go to Council? 
 
No. The final budget proposals will be considered by Council following the consultation 
period. 
  

Page 11



 

  

Report title: Pre-Budget Consultation 2026/27 
 
1. Context (or background) 
 
1.1 The Government’s Autumn Statement together with the Chancellors Budget on 26 

November 2025 indicate that overall Local Government resources are broadly in line 
with those announced at the Comprehensive Spending Review (CSR) in June 2025 

 
1.2 At the time of writing the Council is still awaiting the 2026/27 Provisional Local 

Government Finance Settlement which will confirm the funding envelope within which 
the Council will need to operate next year and the two subsequent years, subject to 
decisions around Council Tax levels.  

 
1.3  The Government have during 2025 consulted stakeholders on a set of proposals (called 

‘Fair Funding’) intended to reform the distribution of government resources on a more 
equitable (relative) needs basis. Whilst the implication of the proposals is expected to 
be positive for Coventry, until such time as the provisional settlement is provided, we 
are not yet able to accurately estimate the level of additional resources which the Council 
will benefit from. 

 
1.4  The Provisional Settlement will be received later this month, followed by a final 

settlement announcement in late January 2026. The starting point of the 2026/27 Budget 
process, following setting of the 2025/26 Budget was an initial financial gap for 2026/27 
of £3m, rising to c£10m the following year. These figures did reflect assumptions about 
future resources and expenditure projections at that time. 

 
1.5  In the period since February 2025 however, work has been undertaken to update the 

assumptions that underpin this position to reflect a more up to date position.  The 
absence of a firm Government funding settlement position, however, leaves us with a 
range of possible outcomes such that an accurate indicative position cannot be 
presented as normal in time for this pre budget report.   

 
1.6  Prior to setting the final Budget in February 2026, the Council will be required by law to 

establish the Council Tax and Business Rates tax-bases for 2026/27 and declare 
projected deficits or surpluses from previous years. These will be presented for approval 
in the final Budget Report following the proposed consultation period.  

 
1.7  Fundamental to the Council’s overall financial approach is its commitment to protect the 

most vulnerable citizens and to deliver a range of core services to everyone in the city. 
This has become increasingly difficult in recent years as a result of lower real term 
resources which have not reflected rises in demand or demographics since 2010.  
Coventry, as a growing and relatively deprived City has been disadvantaged by the 
current (outgoing) system which does not reflect need and has a lower ‘core spending 
power’ than the national average of £46 per person, or £17m. (Core spending power is 
the totality of Government resources together with local taxation raised) 

 
1.8  In addition, rising prices and their impact on the cost of living over the past few years 

has continued to place constraints and pressure on some aspects of Council services.  
Whilst this has eased in the last 12 months, averaging 3.75% for the last 4 months, it is 
not reducing as quickly as had been forecast and is still well above the Bank of England’s 
2% target. As a result, both pay and non-pay inflation will be higher than previously 
budgeted.  

Page 12



 

  

1.9 At this point, for the 26/27 financial year, there are a number of financial scenarios until 
such time as there is greater certainty around the impact of the funding reform. This 
together with all other estimated changes to the previously approved Budget position 
will be set out in detail for approval in the final budget report in February 2026. 

 
1.10 No new cost reduction options have been sought or therefore included in this pre budget 

report. Sector intelligence regarding funding reform thus far suggests that there is a 
likelihood that some policy investment will be possible.  Therefore, section 2.5 of the 
report identifies themes for potential investment based on data derived from both the 
public engagement on Council priorities and a review of Council Key Performance 
Indicator performance.  

 
1.12 This report proposes that the consultation is carried out on the basis that the Council will 

increase Council Tax levels by just under 5%, the maximum amount allowable without 
triggering a referendum. This is made up of a 2% Adult Social Care Precept and an 
increase of 3% for other expenditure. It is possible that increases in the Police and Fire 
precepts could result in a total Council Tax rise above 5%.  

 
1.13 Additionally, stakeholder views are also sought as part of the proposed consultation 

process on the potential areas for service investment as described in section 2.5 of the 
report. 

 
1.14 Proposed change to the Council Tax Support scheme also require consultation and this 

consultation will run in parallel with the wider budget consultation. 
 
2. Options considered and recommended proposal 
 
2.1  The remainder of the report outlines the potential financial implications facing the 

Council and the policy themes put forward for consultation. 
 

Resources & Technical Savings 
 

2.2 The Council started the 2026/27 Budget process with a shortfall of £3m rising in 
subsequent years. Overall resources include the Government settlement, amounts in 
relation to Council Tax and Business Rates and several specific grants.  Movements in 
this category once finalised will include the following: 
 

 Expected benefits to Coventry resulting from the Fair Funding reform of local 
government funding. It is expected that most Specific Grants previously identified 
separately in ‘Core Spending Power’ will be rolled into the new needs-based 
approach and distributed as a whole 
 

 Additional resources from the proposed combined increase in Council Tax and Adult 
Social Care precept of 5%  
 

 Extended Producer Responsibility.  Sitting outside of Core Spending Power, this 
reflects resources introduced by the Government from 2025/26 for all waste disposal 
authorities. This transfers the liability of disposal costs to the manufacturers 
(producers) of waste to incentivise waste reduction. Waste disposal costs are 
already factored into the Councils baseline position, so compensation through the 
EPR scheme has resulted in a saving.  We have now received an update from the 

Page 13



 

  

scheme administrator informing the Council of the expected compensation in 
respect of 2026/27.   

 

 There will also be technical service savings, the most significant relating to 
employers’ pension fund contributions.  We have recently been informed by the 
West Midlands Pension Fund of a significant reduction in the Local Government 
Pension Scheme employers’ contribution, reflecting an estimated surplus to be 
announced as part of the current actuarial triennial review to take effect from April 
2026. This reduction is expected to save the Council £7m - £8m per year over the 
next 3 years and potentially longer. 

  
2.3  Whilst it is expected that the items in section 2.2 above will be positive, a number of 

expenditure and income pressures continue to provide financial challenges. The most 
significant of these individual pressures are outlined below:  
 

 Prevailing inflation rates appear to be stubbornly remaining at 3.6%, well above the 
Bank of England’s 2% target. Together with the fact that the Council has faced the 
impact of extremely high inflation between 2022 and 2024, the impact on both pay 
and non-pay related costs has been and continues to be material.  It also includes 
the effect of inflation on a range of its externally procured costs and services. 
 

 Children’s Services is again seeing significant increases in the average unit cost of 
placements for looked after children, partly due to pay costs but also due to a lack 
of sufficiency in the market to meet the complex needs of young people in care. This 
continues to be a local, regional and national issue.   
 

 Adults Social Care is also experiencing significant increases in expenditure due to 
growth in the number of care packages across most areas as well as increased 
complexity. These costs are also directly affected materially by expected increases 
in the National Living Wage. 

 
2.4  Depending on the settlement announcement and above expenditure pressures, we 

would expect that a degree of flexibility will exist for members to consider opportunities 
to invest in some key services to improve outcomes for the City as part of the decisions 
required for the final budget setting in February 2026. These are discussed further in 
section 2.5 below. 

 
2.5 Policy Themes 

 
As stated earlier in the report, there are varying financial scenarios dependent on the 
outcome of the Governments settlement later this month.   
 
An optimistic outcome would provide an opportunity for members to consider and 
approve some level of policy priority investment.  As part of the pre-budget engagement 
which was carried out in September/October 2025, the household survey, and a review 
of performance of the Council, the following key themes were deemed to be of the 
greatest priority and benefit for the Communities in the City: 
 
• Keeping people safe - crime, clean, well lit, city centre improvements 
• Anti-social behaviour – fly tipping  
• Local environments – deprived neighbourhoods 
• Protecting vulnerable people – child poverty 

Page 14



 

  

• Good jobs, investment and prosperity – NEET, youth unemployment, education 
achievement 

• Helping people to manage – bills, energy, to help themselves 
• Roads and pavements – conditions and safety 
 
The report is recommending approval of these themes for public consultation to inform 
potential investment. 

 
Capital 
 

2.6  The Council has a draft 5-year capital programme which totals nearly £455 million based 
on approved decisions and expected resource allocations. Of this, nearly £179m is 
currently cash-flowed for 2026/27 taking into account an updated position for 2025/26.  
 

2.7  The main components of the Council’s provisional programme are set out below with 
the figures quoted representing the projected sums earmarked currently for 2026/27. 
The five-year programme and an updated cash-flow position will be included in 
February’s final Budget Report. The Programme includes: 
 

 Continued delivery of Coventry Very Light Rail (CVLR). CVLR has been allocated a 
further £12.3m from the City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement (CRSTS) 
programme for Stage Gate 3a, the preparation to construct City Centre 
Demonstrator (CCD) and full implementation of City Centre Traffic Management 
Plan (CCTMP). 

 A strategic transportation programme in excess of £30m incorporating the CRSTS 
and Active Travel Integrated Settlement programme, to deliver City Centre 
Cycleway, Tile Hill Station Park and Ride improvement scheme and Coventry South 
Sustainable Transport Package. 

 Ongoing capital programme to deliver the West Midlands Investment Zone, an 
advanced manufacturing area to increase the economic prosperity of the city and 
region.  

 City Centre Regeneration investment in excess of £40m continuing to take forward 
City Centre South plans.  

 Continued investment in the region of £30m to deliver the school’s capital works 
including provision for the expansion of secondary places under their One Strategic 
Plan along with the completion of the new SEND school at Woodlands. 

 Continued investment in Adult and Children’s Social Care in the form of Disabled 
Facilities and £5.5m in the completion of the Residential Children’s Strategy along 
with the programme of vehicle replacement and ICT. 

 
2.8 The draft programme will be subject to change between now and February 2026. It is 

important to be aware that some of the schemes involve a complex mix of funding 
sources, multi-partner delivery arrangements and challenging planning, technical and 
approval requirements that do not always lend themselves to smooth project delivery 
progress and could therefore require reprofiling. In overall terms, given the large amount 
of externally funded and driven proposals within the Council’s Capital Programme, it is 
very likely that a fair degree of flux will continue to be experienced in its cash-flow over 
the next few years.  

 
 
 

Page 15



 

  

Council Tax Support Scheme - amendments 
 
2.9 It is proposed that the Council’s Council Tax Support scheme is amended to provide 

additional support for recipients who face unavoidable council tax liability for two homes 
in the following circumstances:  
 

 They have left their original home through fear of violence, or   

 Changes for disabled people are being made in their new home, like a wet 
bathroom or stairlift 

 They have moved and have an unavoidable liability to pay council tax for both 
their original home and new home  

  
This proposal would mean that where a person is liable for council tax at their original 
home, at the same time as being liable at their new home, in the above circumstances 
they can claim CTS at both addresses for a temporary period, appropriate to the 
situation.  
  
Appendix 1 to the report sets out the equalities impact of these proposed changes. 

 
3. Results of consultation undertaken 
 
3.1 Some of the proposals in the report are subject to consultation. The Council will 

communicate the report’s key messages through usual consultation channels including 
social and digital media. 

 
4. Timetable for implementing this decision 
 
4.1 Following a public consultation period, full Council will consider the final budget 

proposals in February 2026 to be implemented from 1st April 2026.  
 
5. Comments from the Director of Finance and Resources (Section 151 Officer) and 

the Director of Law and Governance 
 
5.1 Financial implications 

 
 Following the outcome of the fair funding review set out in the Autumn Statement 2025, 

the Council’s financial circumstances for 2026/27 and beyond will be clarified by the 
detail that will be set out in the forthcoming Provisional Settlement later this month  

 
 It is expected that Coventry will benefit from the redistribution of Funding on a fairer 

‘needs’ basis through the funding reform, however continued strong action is still 
required in order to ensure financial stability.  

 
 A range of sound financial management practices have continued to be undertaken 

including: implementing medium-term planning which is not reliant on reserve 
contributions; making budgeting decisions that recognise fundamental pressures in the 
financial position; maintaining reserve balances at a level that is sufficient to manage 
budget risks; governance and delivery of existing approved savings; addressing issues 
of governance in decision making in line with external advice; pursuing financial planning 
approaches which does not place an over reliance on speculative commercial activity, 
but which does incorporate a balanced and forward thinking approach to delivery of 
modest commercial gains. 

Page 16



 

  

 
 The Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) will be reported to Cabinet along 

with the final Budget Report in February 2026. It will provide greater coverage of the 
Council’s approach to financial planning and addressing current issues. These continue 
to be difficult times for local authorities and although the Council is likely to be able to 
identify a balanced position for 2026/27, there is a risk in future years. Funding reform 
will provide a multi-year approach to funding announcements and allocations, such that 
this will provide greater medium-term clarity.  

 
 In the period between now and February 2026, the Council will continually update its 

forecasts to reflect the Local Government Finance Settlement, service pressures and 
technical savings.   

 
 The indicative level of the Capital Programme set out above is only a guide at this stage 

although it continues to point towards another significant programme of spend on capital 
schemes across the city. Much of this spend, the vast majority of which continues to be 
funded from external grant and contributions, will continue to deliver benefits to the local 
economy through infrastructure improvements and enhancement of the city’s appeal to 
private sector investment. The medium-term trajectory of the Capital Programme does 
not reflect the high levels of expenditure experienced in recent years and will depend on 
the success of future grant bidding processes and Government announcements. 

 
5.2 Legal Implications 
  
 Budget Policy Proposals 
 The proposals in this report are designed to facilitate the Council’s statutory obligations 

in relation to setting a balanced 2026/27 budget by mid-March 2026. This includes the 
duty to report to the Council on the robustness of the estimates provided and the 
adequacy of the financial reserves in place. Section 31A of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992 and Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 refer. 

 
 Council Tax Support Scheme 

The Local Government Finance Act 1992 as amended includes a requirement for the 
Council to adopt any revisions to its local Council Tax Support scheme by 11 March of 
the year in which changes are to be implemented. Failure to do so would result in the 
Council having to maintain the scheme currently in place. 
 
Section 67(2)(aa) Local Government Finance Act 1992 as amended by the 2012 Act, 
states that the implementation of a local Council Tax Support scheme and any 
subsequent revisions to the scheme will be a function reserved to full Council.  
 
The framework within which billing authorities must devise their Council Tax Reduction 
schemes is contained in Part 1 of Schedule 4 to the Act.  This Schedule provides that 
the following matters must be included in an authority’s scheme:  
 
a. a description of the classes of person entitled to a council tax reduction;  
b. details of the reductions which are to apply to those classes (different classes of 

persons may be entitled to different reductions);  
c. the procedure under which a person may apply for a Council Tax reduction; and  
d. an appeals procedure covering decisions over entitlement to a reduction and the 

amount of any reduction due.  
 

Page 17



 

  

These items are all included in the proposed revised schemes.  
 
Consultation must be carried out in accordance with the 2012 Act.  The Council must 
attempt to ensure that all interested parties are able to give a view.  
 
The Council must consider whether there are any groups or individuals that are 
adversely impacted by any changes when making its final decisions on a local 
scheme. 

 
6. Other implications 
  
6.1 How will this contribute to the One Coventry Plan  
 (https://www.coventry.gov.uk/strategies-plans-policies/one-coventry-plan) 

 
The Council, in common with all local authorities, will continue to be faced with 
challenging resource constraints relative to expenditure pressures, although the precise 
nature and trajectory of this are not yet clear. The Pre-Budget position is presented 
within the context of the existing Medium Term Financial Strategy, which is aligned with 
the priorities set out for the City within the One Coventry Plan. In this way Pre-Budget 
proposals are aligned to existing policy priorities. 

 
6.2 How is risk being managed? 

 
The inability to deliver a balanced budget is one of the Council's key corporate risks. 
The proposals within this report are aimed directly at trying to mitigate this risk. The new 
pressures and eventual resourcing position that will be included in the Council’s bottom 
line budget position will be governed robustly to ensure there is no significant risk of 
non-achievement. Once the impact of the new funding regime has been announced, 
including the multi-year impact on future years, any indicative budget gaps for future 
years will be better understood, together with the need to be addressed as part of the 
future years budget setting processes.  
 

6.3 What is the impact on the organisation? 
 
The opening position from 2026/27 assumes all previously approved savings targets are 
delivered in full.  These will be managed carefully as part of robust governance 
arrangements as they are implemented, to manage the risk of non-achievement.  

 
6.4 Equalities / EIA  
  
 Policy Themes 
 

It has not been possible to measure equalities impact at this pre-budget stage as 
further information on potential impact on protected groups, from the consultation 
period, is required.  A full cumulative impact report will be produced ahead of the final 
Budget setting report in early 2026, with more detailed analysis on the likely equalities 
impact of the final proposals. This will be based on equality impact assessments 
completed for each of the proposals. 

 
 
 
 

Page 18

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/strategies-plans-policies/one-coventry-plan


 

  

Council Tax Support Scheme 
 
An equality impact assessment (EIA) has been carried out to understand the likely 
impact of implementing the recommendations relating to the Council Tax Support 
Scheme. This EIA can be found in Appendix 1 to the report.     

 
6.5 Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment 

 
No impact at this stage although climate change and the environmental impact of the 
Council’s decisions are likely to feature more strongly in the future. 

  
6.6 Implications for partner organisations? 
  

With regard to the Council Tax Support scheme amendments, there are minor 
implications for major precepting authorities, and the Council has initiated consultation 
with West Midlands Police, West Midlands Combined Authority and the West Midlands 
Fire and Civil Defence Authority in this respect 

  

Page 19



 

  

Report author:  
 
Name and job title:  
Phil Helm 
Head of Finance 
 
Directorate:  
Finance and Resources 
 
Email contact:  
Phil.helm@coventry.gov.uk 
 
Enquiries should be directed to the above person. 
 

Contributor/ 
approver name 

Title Directorate Date doc 
sent out 

Date response 
received or 
approved 

Contributors:     

Michelle Salmon Governance 
Services Officer 

Law and 
Governance 

3/12/25 3/12/25 

Sunny Singh Heer Lead Accountant Finance and 
Resources 

25/11/25 27/11/25 

Barrie Strain Head of Revenue 
& Benefits 

Finance and 
Resources 

25/11/25 1/12/25 

Jaspal Mann Strategic Lead EDI Public Health 
and Wellbeing 

25/11/25 27/11/25 

Tina Pinks Corporate Finance 
Manager 

Finance and 
Resources 

3/12/25 3/12/25 

Names of approvers 
for submission: 
(officers & members) 

    

Barry Hastie Director of Finance 
and Resources 
(s151 Officer) 

- 3/12/25 4/12/25 

Oluremi Aremu Head of Legal and 
Procurement 
Services 

Law and 
Governance 

3/12/25 4/12/25 

Councillor R Brown Cabinet Member 
for Strategic 
Finance and 
Resources 

- 5/12/25 8/12/25 

 
This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/council-meetings  
 

Page 20

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/council-meetings


SB1 Work Programme 2025/26 

1 
 

 
Please see page 2 onwards for background to items 
 

16 July 25 
Cabinet Member Portfolio Priorities 
Reserves Position 
Procurement Strategy 2025-2030 
SME/VCSE Inclusion 2024/25 

10 September 25 
Revenue and Capital Outturn 2024/25 
Proposals for a Task and Finish Group for 25/26 

5 November 25 
Council Investment Portfolio 
Outturn Performance for the Tax year 2024/25 

3 December 25 (moved from 10th) 
Staff Survey Results 
CIPFA Financial Management Code 

14 January 26 
Budget Consultation 

11 February 26 
HR KPI’s: 
a. Recruitment, Retention and Sickness. 
b. Diversity and Inclusion, and Community Inclusion 
Distribution of Government funding 

25 March 26 
Update following Implementation of the Spending, Saving and Council Tax Proposals 25/26 
Learning & Development 
Home to School Transport 

2026/27 
Cabinet Member Priorities 
Task & Finish Group 
Outturn Performance for the Tax year 2025/26 
Reserves Position 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    

Last updated 05 January 2026 

Page 21

Agenda Item 5



SB1 Work Programme 2025/26 

2 
 

Date Title Detail Cabinet 
Member/ Lead 
Officer 

16 July 25 Cabinet Member Portfolio 
Priorities 

To invite Cllr Brown to identify his priorities for the 
coming year to identify future items and hold Cabinet 
Members to account 

Cllr Brown 

 Reserves Position Reserves position 23/24 statement – During Q4 (July) Barry Hastie / 
Cllr Brown 

 Procurement Strategy 2025-
2030 
 

The procurement strategy builds on the previous 
strategy and reflects significant legislative changes. 
 

Cllr Brown / 
Rob Amor 

 SME/VCSE Inclusion 2024/25 
 

First SME and VCSE inclusion report 
 

Cllr Brown / 
Rob Amor 

10 September 25 Revenue and Capital Outturn 
2024/25 

Update following on from the final revenue and capital 
outturn position for 2024/25, and reviews treasury 
management activity and 2024/25 - Following Council 
in September. An opportunity to look in further detail of 
the position 

Barry Hastie / 
Cllr Brown 

 Proposals for a Task and Finish 
Group for 25/26 

Discussion with Members of the Board regarding 
potential topic areas for Task and Finish Group Review 
for 25/26 

 

5 November 25 Council Investment Portfolio Update on risk and returns - Income figures to be 
provided in future reports relating to companies owned 
by the Council. 

Barry Hastie / 
Phil Helm / Cllr 
Brown 

 Outturn Performance for the Tax 
year 2024/25 

To look at Council Tax collection rates Barrie Strain / 
Cllr Brown 

3 December 25 
(moved from 10th) 

Staff Survey Results 
 

 
 

Susanna 
Chilton 
Cllr Brown 

 CIPFA Financial Management 
Code 

At their meeting last year the Board agreed to consider 
this on an annual basis 

Phil Helm 
Cllr Brown 

P
age 22



SB1 Work Programme 2025/26 

3 
 

Date Title Detail Cabinet 
Member/ Lead 
Officer 

14 January 26 Budget Consultation An additional meeting to allow members to feed into the 
ongoing Budget Consultation 

Cllr Brown / 
Barry Hastie 

11 February 26 HR KPI’s: 
a. Recruitment, Retention 

and Sickness. 
b. Diversity and Inclusion, 

and Community Inclusion   
 

 
a. To include agency staff and staff sickness – 
performance reports of sickness and agency use 
b. Identified at Scruco on the 5th of June following 
Cabinet Member Portfolio Priorities to also include 
Workforce KPI's 

Cllr Brown 
Susanna 
Chilton 
 

 Distribution of Government 
funding 

Investigate adding an item on distribution of 
Government funding which had been identified in the 
2024 Autumn Budget., plus progress on 3-year 
settlement and parity of funding 

Cllr Brown 
Phil Helm 

25 March 26 Update following Implementation 
of the Spending, Saving and 
Council Tax Proposals 25/26 

Update report on the outcomes and impacts of 
implementation, be submitted to the Board in 12 
months’ time. (March/April 2026) 

Barry Hastie / 
Barri Strain 
Cllr Brown 

 Learning & Development  Susanna 
Chilton 
Cllr Brown 

 Home to School Transport  Progress report on the Home to School Travel 
arrangements in the municipal year 2025-26 to review 
the changes and lessons learned ahead of the new 
procurement round prior to the next academic year. 
Invite Cllr Kelly as previous chair of T&F Group 

Rob Amor / 
Jeanette Essex 
Cllr Brown 

    

2026/27    

 Cabinet Member Priorities Written Briefing Note of priorities to be circulated to the 
Board ahead of the meeting 

Cllr Brown 

 Task & Finish Group   

P
age 23



SB1 Work Programme 2025/26 

4 
 

Date Title Detail Cabinet 
Member/ Lead 
Officer 

 Outturn Performance for the Tax 
year 2025/26 

To look at Council Tax collection rates Barrie Strain / 
Cllr Brown 

 Reserves Position To include list of acronyms and their meaning  

P
age 24



SB1 Work Programme 2025/26 

5 
 

 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3a To agree the minutes of the meeting held on 3 December 2025
	4 Pre Budget Consultation Report 2026/27
	Appendix 1 - Pre-Budget Report 2026-27

	5 Work Programme and Outstanding Issues

